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ABSTRACT

This monograph integrates previously unpublished materials, including extensive field surveys
and some excavation, into a historical sketch of the Pony Express in Utah. The primary and
organizational focus is on Express stations. Since the Overland Mail Service corresponds
temporally and geographically to the Express, its history becomes an inseparable component
of the study. Many confusing and controversial issues are resolved by this study, and many

others are surfaced. Additional research is obviously needed; particularly desirable would be

long-term survey and excavation programs.

For many years the Bureau of Land Management has recognized its role in the management
and protection of historical sites on lands under its jurisdiction. This study has evolved as a
direct result of such management/protection efforts. BLM currently manages eight Pony

Express/Overland Mail sites on public lands in Utah and many others in neighboring states.

Richard E. Fike
John W. Headley
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RESEARCH BACKGROUND

Many stories exist and have been perpetuated about the Pony Express and its contributions
to regional and national history, but unfortunately this information is sketchy and fragment-
ed. Facts written or otherwise related are often distorted, creating a confusing and clouded
account of that service’s history. Notorious are newspaper articles which have contributed
more to legend than fact. In Utah, few attempts have been made to compile and authenticate
the fragments of information available into a reasonable historical chronology or regional
account of the Pony Express. Also, little attention has been paid to the relationship between

the Pony Express and the Overland Mail/Stage Service.

Past rescarch efforts have dealt mainly with the histories of the men who engineered the
Express, the riders, and associated political ramifications and events. The writers’ intentions
are not to rework the company’s history or those of the principal people associated with its
service; rather it is to deécribe the Express stations themselves. Associated persons and events,

as well as observations, will be presented in this context.

New data, substantiated and augmented by extensive field work, have provided the opportun-
ity to consolidate some of the fragmentary historical records of the Express; thereby lending
a more cohesive character to this presentation. Cadastral records (township plat maps or
cadastral plats) made by the General Land Office (GLO) and now held by the Bureau of
Land Management, have provided an excellent and often neglected historical resource. Cadas-
tral surveyors noted building locations, trails and other pertinent data essential to the sort
of systhesis attempted here. But problems continually plague the Express researcher, since
carly eyewitness accounts are often frustratingly vague and difficult to interpret. A few
examples will demonstrate. In J. H. Simpson’s report on his exploration across the Great
Basin in 1859, he mentions a mail station at Simpson’s Springs but his trip map plots only
the springs. Sir Richard Burton of Nile River exploration fame, referenced the majority of
the stage stations but omitted stations used by the Pony Express. Captain Albert Tracy also
left out some of the Express sites in his journal. In stories gathered by Kate B. Carter, the
Express riders left out names of stations not pertinent to the situation they were relating, thus

leaving researchers to think many stations were not there, were no longer in existence, or were



only stage facilities.

With the aid of a map showing geographic position and terrain the researcher can begin to
understand the strategic positioning for each Express station site. Some positioning is further
understandable when one considers mountain passes could have 15 foot snow drifts in the
winter and that summer temperatures often reached 110 degrees on the desert floor. Water
was (and is) a scarcity, especially to the west of Salt Lake City, and often had to be hauled

great distances to several desert stations.

Often confusing are the names (local and contract) used for the stations. For example, a
strip map published in 1935 spots Hanging Rock and Weber stations as separate stations,
when in actuality they were the same.l In another place it shows Fort Crittenden and Camp
Floyd, the same station, about 25 miles apart. It is confusing to researchers when contract
names and local names are found on different maps. Unless a detailed study is made for each
site, the extra names confuse the researcher. This is especially true when working from line

strip maps.
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INTRODUCTION

The demise of the Pony Express and the Overland Mail Service marked the end of an erain
western history. The physical remains of both services are extant on public lands in western
Utah and are being preserved, interpreted and continually studied by the Bureau of Land
Management’s Salt Lake and Richfield districts.

Over the past few years, and especially during the 1976 Bicentennial, substantial Bureau
efforts have been devoted to the protection and interpretation of the Pony Express Trail in
Utah. Attention was focused on the West Desert near Salt Lake City, and included the
Overland Mail route. Research, however, produced data on a wide area and that information

also is presented in this monograph.

The discovery of gold in California coupled with the westward migration of thousands of
easterners and the creation of settlements in such frontiers as the Salt Lake Valley, established
the need for more efficient and faster communications with the East. Three notable figures
of that era — Alexander Majors, William H. Russell and William B. Waddell — claimed that a
pony rider service could transport mail from the east in only nine to ten days. With the
establishment of the Pony Express in April 1860, their claim became a reality. Via the tele-
graph from the east coast to St. Joseph, Missouri, then by Pony Express, communication to
California was accomplished in about nine days. This is in marked contrast to the three

months previously required.

Preceeding the Express, George Chorpenning had established a mail and freight service in
1851 — the ‘““Jackass Mail.” This was the first U.S. Mail Contract for service between Salt
Lake City and San Francisco. To the east of Salt Lake City, the first mail contract was
awarded to Samuel H. Woodson in 1850. Successors included William F. McGraw, 1854 —
1857; Hiram Kimball, 1857; S. B. Mills, 1857—1858; Hockaday and Liggett, 1858-1859.2
Russell, Majors and Waddell purchased the mail and transportation obligations from Hock-
aday and Liggett in 1859, and from George Chorpenning in 1860, and established the Central
Overland, California and Pike’s Peak Express Company (see Figure 2). The Overland Mail

Company continued operations until its contract was lost to Ben Holladay in 1862.3 In
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1870, shortly after the completion of the transcontinental railroad, the Overland Mail Com-

pany changed its route to be adjacent to the railroad which was north of the Great Salt Lake.
At the initiation of Express operations, Alexander Majors recorded that:

There were already stations properly distanced on our line

between St. Joseph and Salt Lake, but we had to relocate the
route between Salt Lake and Sacramento which we had taken
over from George Chorpenning and build stations its entire

length.4

Chorpenning’s stations averaged 70 miles apart. Kate B. Carter says:

Stage stations already established were too far apart for horse
travel, and no intermediate, or swing stations, were built between
the home stations where horses could be quickly exchanged.
(by 1861) there were 56 stations marked on the Egan, or
Overland Trail map, covering a distance of 658 miles.

This represented the distance between Salt Lake City and the California border (Yanks

Station). Stations averaged 11 and 3 /4 miles apart.
According to rider Nick Wilson:

The home stations were from 40 to 60 miles apart and

one man’s ride was from one station to another. Between

the home stations were other stations where horses could be

changed.
They were referred to as the “swing stations” and some lasted only one or two months
before being shut down due to the completion of the telegraph and the demise of the Pony
Express. Rider William H. Streepler noted ‘“We stationed animals all along between stops

(home stations) so we could change and have fresh ones.”®

The route between Salt Lake City and Robert’s Creek (now in Nevada) was under the super-

vision of Major Howard Egan.'7 Major Egan, of the Nauvoo Legion, came west with Brigham



Young’s company in 1847. His knowledge of the roadometer (used in measuring distance)
undoubtedly aided in his responsibility to lay out the Pony Express stations within his divi-
8

sion. In “Pioneering the West” from the Howard R. Egan estate, the noncon-
tract stations of Pass, River Bed, Black Rock, Boyd’s and Canyon are named in addition to
the identified contract stations.? It is of interest to note that Major Egan’s two sons both

rode for the Pony Express: Howard Ransom and Richard Eurastus (Ras) Egan.

On the first ride the mail from California reached Salt Lake City April 7, 1860, at 7:45
p.m.10 The mail from St. Joseph, Missouri, arrived in Salt Lake City April 9 at 6:25 p.m.11
Where the first riders met and passed each other is unknown, but by projecting time and
speed (about 8 mph) this must have occurred near Pacific Springs, Wyoming. At the
Wyoming passing, one writer indicates the rider going east was Dave, and going west was

“Charles McCarty.”12 Some research indicates the rider going east was Thomas Owen King.
George Washington Perkins stated on the first express ride:

My run on that record-breaking ride was 57 miles. We did

not have stations then to change our horses. | had to make it
with just one horse and | made the run in mighty good time
considering the distance, but | killed the poor horse doing it.

He was so stiff the next morning we couldn’t get him out of the
stable. (for later runs) | had a change of mounts every six

or eight miles.

The fastest Express ride was a little over seven and one-half days (the average being ten);
it carried President Lincoln’s Inaugural Message. This meant the horses averaged over ten
miles per hour from St. Joseph to Sacramento. Under regular conditions the horses would
run about seven or eight miles per hour. In comparison, freight was hauled at about four

miles per hour and the stage averaged six.

The 1861 mail contract stations are listed in the following paragraph. Other identified, or
more recent stations, are listed in parentheses. All stations reflect locations within the present

geographic boundaries of the state of Utah.



The stations are: Needle Rock, Head of Echo Canyon, Half Way, Weber, East Canyon,
Wheaton Springs, Mountain Dale, Salt Lake House, Trader’s Rest, Rockwell’s, Dugout,
Camp Floyd, (East Rush Valley), Rush Valley, Point Lookout, (Government Creek), Simp-
son’s Springs, (Riverbed), Dugway, (Blackrock), Fish Springs, (Boyd's), Willow Springs,
(Willow Creek), (1863 Canyon), (Canyon), and Deep Creek. At the time of the Pony Ex-
press, Utah Territory (see Figures 1 and 3) included some 65 of the 190 stations along the
entire route from Pacific Springs, Wyoming to the California border. It was in 1861 that

Congress reduced Utah Territory and established Nevada Territory.

At the peak of operations, the route from St. Joseph, Missouri, to Sacramento, California,
was made up of about 190 stations, approximately 420 horses, and 80 riders. At 10 to 12
miles per horse and 75 to 125 miles per rider, the mail could be moved 250 miles in 24
hours. This was an efficient and fast service, but it brought about costs greater than income.
Financial problems plagued the Pony Express from its inception. This financial burden
together with the completion of the telegraph in October 1861, brought an end to the Pony

Express.l4

Intermittent frcighting and stage services continued in Utah’s West Desert area until the

middle 1920’s. The famous Lincoln Highway also passed through Utah using portions of

the old mail route.

The Pony Express, an important and colorful contributor to the service of the Central Over-
land, California & Pike’s Peak Express Company, was established in 1860 and had succumbed
by late 1861. It lasted only about 19 months and was basically a financial failure, but the
associated glamour — both fact and fiction — has assured it a large and lasting chapter in the

history of the West.



€ ainbi4

CENTRAL OVERLAND, CALIFORNIA & PIKES PEAK ROUTE
(Western Portion)

— North Platte
*~70 St Joseph Mo



THE STATIONS

In the following descriptions, the stations are discussed in the order of their occurrence from
east to west. The first name is the one listed in the 1861 mail contract. Other names, local

usages, etc. are listed parenthetically.

Needle Rock (The Needles)

Utah No. 1 Contract Station,

Location: NEYNWY Section
21, Township 5 North, Range
8 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Eight miles from Bear River

Station, Wyoming,.

Bear River Station is also

referred to as Briggs Station,

named after the operator.

Little information is known about the Needle Rock Station. The 1869 GLO cadastral plat
(Figure 4) shows the station location being at Porter’s Ranch along the Omaha to Salt Lake
Valley Road. The route through this area also was used by the Donner-Reed party in 1846,
the Mormon Pioneers in 1847, by General Johnston’s Army in 1858, and the transcontinental
telegraph in 1861 (See Photo 1).
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The Needles, near the mouth of Coyote Creek. Needle Rock Station was located
to the right of the picture (Courtesy of the Utah State Historical Society).

Photo 1

Head of Echo Canyon or Castle Rock Station site (BLM 1978).
Photo 2



Head of Echo Canyon (Castle
Rock, Frenchies) Utah No. 2

Contract Station,

Location: Lot 3, Section 6,
Township 4 North, Range 7
East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Eight miles from Needle Rock

Station.

This station, the first in Echo Canyon, was named for the large sandstone formation located
near the site. The station, made of logs, was sold to a French trapper and moved a mile away
in 1867.15 The station site is located approximately where the old Castle Rock grocery store
now stands. (See Photo 2)

About half way between the Head of Echo Canyon and Halfway Station occurs a geologic
feature known historically as Cache Cave, a popular landmark and wayside for travelers
(See Photos 3 & 4), The Journal of Captain Albert Tracy mentions, in April of 1860, a
station located not far from the cave. The Journal describes the station as a “mere structure
of slabs, to keep the wolves off.”16 Possibly this unlocated, intermediate, temporary facility
was located at the Squires Ranch, located on the GLO cadastral plat of 1869, and discussed
within the field notes (See Figure 5).

10
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Historic signatures in Cache Cave (BLM photo 1978).
Photo 4
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Halfway (Daniels, Emery)

Utah No. 3 Contract Station.

Location: NWYSWY; Section
29, Township 4 North, Range
6 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Seven miles from Head of

Echo Canyon Station.

Unfortunately, Halfway Station remains obscure in history. The 1891 GLO cadastral plat

and field notes indicate that the station was operated by a man named Daniels (See Figure

6).The structure was apparently torn down after the railroad went through in 1868.

An unresearched story pertaining to the Echo Canyon region told that in the early months of

the Express rustlers working in the area would steal horses from the company exclusively for

the purpose of selling them back later. This went on until the horses were marked with the

XP (Express) brand.

13
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Weber (Echo,17 Bromleys,
Hanging Rock18) Utah No. 4

Contract Station,

Location: NWYNEY: Section
25 Township 3 North, Range
4 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Nine and three-quarters miles

from Halfway Station.

James E. Bromley, division superintendent for the run from Pacific Springs Wyoming to Salt
Lake City,settled at the mouth of Echo Canyon in 1854. He did not obtain a cash entry
patent, however, until June 20, 1874 (Cert. No. 1127). It is reported that the station
house, built at the base of Pulpit Rock, had rock walls 26 inches thick.19 The authors
disagree. Located on the Pete Clark property, in Echo, Figure 7, the visible remains of the
foundation of the station house have been located and mapped by the authors (See Figure 8),
The walls average thickness is much less. The facilities of Weber Station provided the services
of a general store, inn, saloon, blacksmith shop and jail. A hotel was built later (See Photos
5&6).

Union Pacific purchased the Weber Station and surrounding lands in 1868 and laid out Echo
City. Pulpit Rock was destroyed when old U.S. Highway 30 was constructed.20 The station
house, considered unsafe, was torn down in 1931. Five cache pockets containing items of the

era were discovered in the walls.21

About two miles west of Weber Station, the mail was transported across Forney’s Bridge on
the Weber River. The bridge was constructed prior to June 1858.22 From this location, the
Express riders traveled up Bachelors Canyon to the top of Dixie Hollow. When the crossing
was unsafe or the canyons were snowed in, the rider could go on down the valley to the

Brimville Emergency Station or Henneforville (SW/%4SE% Sec. 4, T. 3 N., R. 4 E. now Hene-

15



fer) (See Figure 9) and around by Little East Canyon to Dixie Hollow. The pioneer immi-
grants came part way down Dixie Hollow, turned right, crossed the ridge, and then went
south into East Canyon. By the time of the Express, the road was built all the way down
the hollow to just south of where it opens into East Canyon. The 1858 wagon route map of

J. H. Simpson shows East Canyon Creek to be Snyder’s Creek.23

16
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SCALE OF FEET

WEBER STATION

Figure 8
18



e A
Weber or Echo Station. Photo taken in the 1860’s. Note telegraph
line in the foreground. The station house is on the left (Courtesy
of the Utah State Historical Society).

Photo 5

Weber or Echo Station site today. Station house was located in
the large trees (BLM photo 1978).

Photo 6
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East Canyon (Dixie Hollow,
Dixie Creek, Bauchmanns,
Snyder’s Mill) Utah No. 5

Contract Station.

Location: NEYSEY: Section

10, Township 2 North, Range
3 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Ten and one-half miles from

Weber via Bachelors Canyon

or about 13 and onehalf

miles from Weber via Henefer.

East Canyon Station, currently inundated by the East Canyon Reservoir, is located in Section
10. Often referred to as Snyder’s Mill this error may be derived from information gleaned
from Captain Albert Tracy’s Journal. It was at Snyder’s house, in Section 19, along the road
from Parley’s Canyon that Tracy stayed the night (From the 1869 GLO survey plat of
T.1S., R.4 E,, Section 19). Further confusion occurs since Snyder’s Settlement (Snyderville)
and Snyder’s Sawmill are shown as located in Section 31, about 3 miles south of Snyder’s

House. Samuel Snyder had settled at this location in 1853.24

Following its use as a mail station, travelers and sheepherders utilized the area and the
neglected buildings (See Photo 7). A sheep corral and grave mark the site, according to the

1881 GLO survey plat (See Figure 10).

Facing down East Canyon, the Mormons built a fortification about four and one half miles
south of East Canyon Station in the SWY%SW% of Sec. 35. The structure was built for a
holding action against Johnston’s Army. A site just to the north of here has been called
Bauchmanns, but evidently this site is also in error. The pioneers traveled south of Bauch-
manns about two and one half miles and turned northwest up Camp Creek or what is now

called Little Emigration Canyon. By the time of the Express, a shorter road had been con-

21



structed up Monument Creek, or as it is now called, Dutch Hollow. Traces of this road are

still visible on the ground.

22
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.
The ruins of East Canyon Station with Dixie Hollow in the background ( Courtesy of the Utah State

Historical Society).
Photo 7



ool
REAST CANON -
?
e
3
- oo
MOUNTANG | ©
DELL )| .
L"."L;/ 3
1S,

Wheaton  Springs (Winston
Springs) Utah No. 6 Contract

Station.
Location: SE%NEY; Section 5,
Township 1 North, Range 3

East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Eight miles from East Canyon.

The information on the Wheaton Spring Station is limited to the cadastral record and recent

on site-investigations. A spring and corral are shown on the 1881 GLO survey plat (See

Figure 11).

No evidence remains today (See Photo 8). Test excavations will be necessary to precisely

locate the station site.
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Wheaton Springs Station site (BLM photo 1978).
Photo 8



Mountain Dale (Mountain

Dell, Big Canyon, Hanks)

Utah No. 7 Contract Station.

Location: NEY%SWY Section
33, Township 1 North, Range
2 East, Salt Lake Meridian.

Eight and three-quarter miles

from Wheaton Springs.

A vandalized monument in the NW% of the NWY of Section 36 presently marks the location
of the assumed station site. The daughter of George Edwin Little, Express rider, relates the
following story which presents evidence suggesting the station site may have been located

elsewhere.

One day father was bringing in the mail from the east to the station at Mountain Dell (Dale). There was a
heavy snow storm came up, and crossing over Little Mountain, the snow became so heavy and deep that his
horse gave out and he had to leave him. He took his pocket knife and cut the mail pouches open putting
the mail inside his shirt. Then he broke trail over to Mountain Dell, arriving there about 3 o’clock in the
morning. The next morning, he rode a horse bareback to Salt Lake and delivered the mail to the Old Salt
Lake House which was the home station. Ephraim Hanks (station keeper), his stepfather, rode back up to
the canyon next morning and brought in the horse which seemed none the worse for the ordeal.

Upon checking the USGS quad map, it can be seen that Little Mountain Summit is west of
the presently marked station site, in section 36. It should be noted that the roads do not go
over Little Mountain, but do go over Little Mountain summit. The 1881 survey plat shows
the currently marked locatio‘n as Cook’s house and barn. West of the summit, however, in
Section 33 (See Figure 12) the surveyor records a cabin at the mouth of what is now named
Freeze Creek. This site, incidently, is about equidistant between the Salt Lake House and

Wheaton Springs. It should be also noted the name ‘“Mountain Dale” appears on the 1861

28
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Mail contract. Granted, that Mountain Dale has been a long standing name in its present
geographic location, but could Mountain Dale, the name given to the Hanks station site, have

been unknowingly changed by later historians and writers?

30
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Salt Lake House Utah No. 8

Contract Station.

Location: NWYNWY: Section

| LAKE 6, Township 1 South, Range 1
{ East, Salt Lake Meridian.
| .

i~

TRAVELERS i i i
fREST Nine miles from Mountain
= Dale.

¢

This station, similar in construction to Brigham Young’s Beechive House, stood where the
Salt Lake Tribune Building now stands, at 143 South Main (Figure 13). Because of recent
street beautification, the monument has been moved to the south. According to Sir Richard
Burton, the station was one of the better facilities along the Overland Trail for food and

lodging. Horace Greeley and Mark Twain were among the guests (See Photos 9 & 10).

When the telegraph came to Salt Lake City in October of 1861, the first office was located on
the northeast corner of First South and Main Street (Photo 11); about 1870 the office was
moved (see Photo 12). The Batchelder’s (Goodyear Patent) ramshorn as well as at least two
types of glass insulators were used on the telegraph line (See Photo 13 and Figure 14). One
of the glass insulators is plain and unmarked; the other is the Mulford and Biddle embossed

helmet type.
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TREEEL AT S T r—

[

Salt Lake House (Courtesy of the Utah State Historical Society )-
Photo 9

{CITY BATH HO

BAKERY &z

Circa 1860 artists rendering of the Salt Lake House from Sir Richard Burton’s
“City of Saints” (Courtesy of the Utah State Historical Society )-

Photo 10
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Salt Lake City’s first telegraph office located on the northeast corner of First South and Main Streets
(Courtesy of the Utah State Historical Society ).

Photo 11
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Circa 1870, the telegraph office was moved to the east side of Main street between First and Second South. Note
the U.S. Land Office in the Godbe Building. Photo by Charles R. Savage (Courtesy of the Utah State Historical
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C';OODEN BLOCK

BATCHELDER'S HARD RUBBER INSULATOR
(GOODYEAR'S PATENT)
Figure 14

Batchelder’s “Ramshorn” insulators are constructed of metal and vulcanite Indian
rubber (Goodyear Patent 1861). Such insulators were often preferred over glass
since the Indians sought the latter for use in manufacture of glass beads, projectile
points, etc. (BLM photo 1978).

Photo 13
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Trader’s Rest (Traveler’s Rest)

Utah No. 9 Contract Station.

Location: Lot 2, Township 2
South, Range 1 East, Salt
Lake Meridian.

Nine miles south of Salt Lake

House.

Constructed of adobe, the station apparently was only used for a short time (See Figure 15).
In later years, the structure was covered with wood siding and a false front and re-converted

into a business (See Photo 14). More recently it served as a garage.

Trader’s Rest was located on State Street about two miles north-northwest of Union Fort.

The area was called Lovendahl’s Corner after Swen Lovendahl, an early settler,26
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TRAVELERS REST
Figure 15

-

Trader’s Rest Station building after conversion to a business building and prior to being
razed (from the Charles Kelly collection, Utah State Historical Society ).

Photo 14
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Rockwell’s  (Orin  Porter
Rockwell’s) Utah No. 10 Con-

tract Station.

Location: SWY%NWY Section
15, Township 4 South, Range
1 West, Salt Lake Meridian.

Ten miles south of Trader’s

Rest Station.

Rockwell’s Statlon was named after the operator Orin Porter Rockwell. Rockwell earlier

served as Brigham Young’s bodyguard (1830’s) and was a Danite (member of the Mormon

protection group, organized in Missouri to protect against terrorist activities). On September

9, 1850, Rockwell was appointed Territorial Marshall.

The 1856 survey plat (Figure 16)

shows the old road missing the location thought by some to be the station (just across from

the prison). It plats a house and springs about three quarters of a mile south. This had

been the location of Rockwell’s Station.
(See Photo 15).

The 1901 survey shows a stable had been added
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